
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
————————————————————-X 

   : 
WILLIAM HAUGHEY, :         SECOND AMENDED 

: COMPLAINT              
Plaintiff, : 

: 18 CV 2861 (KBF) 
-against- : 

: (Jury Trial Demanded) 
THE COUNTY OF PUTNAM; THE TOWN OF : 
CARMEL; INSPECTOR ROBERT : 
GEOGHEGAN; ROBERT EFFEREN; CHIEF : 
DARYL JOHNSON; DOUGH CASEY; PO : 
JUSTIN FISCHER; DETECTIVE MICHAEL : 
NAGLE; SERGEANT ROBERT BEHAN; : 
SERGEANT JOHN DEARMAN; JOSEPH : 
CHARBONNEAU; JOHN DOES 1-5; and : 
ANTHONY F. PORTO, SR., : 
ANTHONY M. PORTO, JR., SMALLEY’S INN : 
& RESTAURANT aka SMALLEYS INN, : 
TNT CAFE INC., operating under the trade name : 
Smalley’s Inn and/or Smalley’s Inn Mainstreet : 
Cafe, : 

   : 
Defendants. : 

   : 
————————————————————-X 

Plaintiff William Haughey, by his attorney RITA DAVE, ESQ., respectfully 

alleges upon information and belief, the following: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This civil rights action arises from the wrongful arrest, prosecution, 

and conviction of William Haughey, an innocent, hardworking construction 

worker who was sentenced to 10 years in prison after a local business owner with 

�1

Case 7:18-cv-02861-KMK   Document 56   Filed 12/10/18   Page 1 of 89



strong ties to law enforcements officials, conspired with them to frame Haughey 

for starting a fire in a tavern in Carmel New York. 

2. In 2016, the Putnam County District Attorney’s Office reinvestigated 

the case and moved to overturn Haughey’s conviction.  The District Attorney 

found that Haughey was actually innocent of the charges, and that it had been 

impossible to conclude the fire was an arson. To the contrary, the District 

Attorney concluded the fire was in all likelihood an electrical one caused by faulty 

electrical wiring, which the century-old tavern had been cited for shortly before 

the fire. 

3. Haughey was released from prison in May 2016. By then, however, 

he had spent over eight grueling years in prison for a “crime” that never took 

place, suffered extraordinary mental and emotional damages, was publicly shamed 

and humiliated as a criminal, and lost some of the best years of his life. 

4. Defendants’ horrendous and unlawful conduct violated New York and 

Federal law and entitles Haughey to substantial compensatory and punitive 

damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a federal statute authorizing a civil rights 

lawsuit based on such conduct. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This action arises under the U.S. Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C §§ 1331, 1343(3). 
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6. Under 28 U.S.C § 1391(b) and (c), venue is proper in the Southern 

District of New York because the County of Putnam, Town of Carmel and other 

defendants are situated or reside in that Judicial District. 

7. On August 4, 2016, Haughey filed a timely notice of claim with the 

Town of Carmel and County of Putnam in accordance with law. On October 20, 

2016, attorneys for the County of Putnam deposed Haughey, and on October 21, 

2016, attorneys for the Town of Carmel deposed Haughey. More than 90 days 

elapsed with neither municipality settling Haughey’s claim. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff William Haughey (“PLAINTIFF”) is a citizen of the United 

States, currently residing in the State of Florida. At all relevant times to this 

complaint, he was a resident of New York. 

9. Defendant County of Putnam (“PUTNAM”) is a municipal 

corporation within the State of New York. At all relevant times, PUTNAM 

employed the personnel identified in the acts underlying this lawsuit and 

maintained the Putnam County Bureau of Emergency Services, Putnam County 

Fire Department, and Putnam Department of Public Safety.  Under § 53 of the 

County Law, PUTNAM is liable for the torts of its employees. 

10. Defendant Town of Carmel (“CARMEL”) is a municipal corporation 

in PUTNAM. At all times relevant to this lawsuit, CARMEL employed the 
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persons identified in the acts underlying this lawsuit and maintained the Carmel 

Police Department and Carmel Fire Department. Under § 65 and 67 of the Town 

Law, CARMEL is liable for the torts of its employees. 

11. Defendant Robert Geoghegan (“INSP. GEOGHEGAN”) was and is a 

fire inspector for PUTNAM. 

12. Defendant Robert Efferen (“INSP. EFFEREN”) was and is a fire 

inspector for PUTNAM. 

13. Defendant Daryl Johnson (“CHIEF JOHNSON”) was and is the 

Chief of the Carmel Fire Department. 

14. Defendant Dough Casey (“CASEY”) was and is an employee of the 

Putnam County Fire Department. 

15. Defendant Michael Nagel was and is a detective for the Carmel 

Police Department (“DET. NAGEL”). 

16. Defendant Robert Behan was and is a Sergeant employed by the 

Carmel Police Department (“SGT. BEHAN”). 

17. Defendant John Dearman was and is a Sergeant employed by the 

Carmel Police Department (“SGT. DEARMAN”). 

18. Defendant Justin Fischer (“PO FISCHER”) is a police officer for the 

Carmel Police Department. 

19. Defendant Joseph Charbonneau (“CHARBONNEAU”) is a Town 

Attorney for the City of Carmel. 
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20. Defendants JOHN DOES 1-5 (“DOE 1-5”) were at all times relevant 

to this complaint, duly appointed and acting employees of PUTNAM and/or 

CARMEL. 

21. Defendants Anthony F. Porto, Sr. and Anthony M. Porto, Jr. (“THE 

PORTOS”) were and are the owners of the Smalley’s Inn, a bar located in Carmel, 

New York. Defendants Smalley’s Inn & Restaurant, aka, Smalley’s Inn, TNT 

Café, Inc., operating under the trade name Smalley’s Inn and/or Smalley’s Inn 

Mainstreet (“CORPORATE DEFENDANTS”), are business entities owned, 

operated, and/or controlled by the PORTOS, and through which the PORTOS 

committed some of the wrongs complained of, and which, upon information and 

belief, were unduly enriched through the PORTOS and their own knowing fraud, 

and filing of false insurance claims defaming and injuring PLAINTIFF. 

22. At all times relevant to this complaint, all defendants acted under the 

color of state law, or with those who acted under the color of state law. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. As Plaintiff Enjoys A Night Out At Local Tavern, An Electrical Issue 
At The Tavern Causes A Small Fire In The Bathroom Ceiling  

23. On March 10, 2007, PLAINTIFF was one of several patrons 

socializing in Smalley’s Inn & Restaurant, a local tavern in Carmel, New York. 

The PORTOS owned the Inn. 
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24. In the late night hours, an electrical issue caused a small fire in the 

bathroom ceiling. 

25. PLAINTIFF and several other good Samaritans, smelling smoke, ran 

into the bathroom, quickly located and extinguished the fire, removed burning and 

charred papers from the ceiling, and spared the tavern of any serious damage. 

26. That a fire occurred in the bathroom ceiling was unremarkable: 

the Inn dates back to the 1800’s and at the time of the fire its electrical system 

used antiquated fuse boxes. 

27. Old newspapers had been stuffed into the walls and ceiling of the Inn 

for insulation, and shortly before the fire at issue in PLAINTIFF’s case, another 

electrical fire had occurred at the Inn when old wiring melted away and started a 

fire. 

28. Moreover, just months prior to the fire in PLAINTIFF’s case, The 

New York State Board of Fire Underwriters, the official electrical inspection 

agency for more than 900 municipalities throughout New York State, had 

inspected the Inn and cited it for multiple electrical code violations. 

29. That Board of Fire Underwriters directed the Inn to update 

its electrical system in accordance with the New York State Building and 

Electrical Code. 

30. Nevertheless, at all time relevant to PLAINTIFF’S case, the 

PORTOS failed to make those required updates to the Inn’s electrical system. 
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B. The Day After The Fire, The Inn’s Owner, Who Held A Grudge  
Against Plaintiff, Makes A False Complaint To Police Accusing Plaintiff 
Of Starting The Fire                                                                                                

31. The day after the fire, the Inn’s owner, the PORTOS, seized upon 

PLAINTIFF’s kind deed in helping to extinguish the fire, as a basis to have him 

falsely arrested on arson charges. 

32. At the time, the PORTOS and his family were prominent business 

owners in CARMEL with close ties to the law enforcement community there. 

33. Moreover, at the time, the PORTOS held a grudge against 

PLAINTIFF because PLAINTIFF had been renting an apartment from one of the 

PORTOS’ close friends and business partners, and PLAINTIFF and the business 

partner were on the verge of litigation over PLAINTIFF’s tenancy. 

34. On March 11, 2007, the PORTOS called Carmel Police Department 

and reported that PLAINTIFF had intentionally set the fire in the bathroom 

ceiling. 

35. The PORTOS’s complaint was blatantly false. 

36. Neither the PORTOS nor anyone else observed PLAINTIFF start the 

fire. 

37. Moreover, the PORTOS, initially unaware of the extent of the fire 

damage, had an incentive to have the fire designated an arson for insurance 
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purposes as an arson would not be attributable to the Inn’s failure to update its 

electrical system. 

C. Police Respond To The Inn And Aid The Portos In
Having Plaintiff Falsely Arrested For Arson

38. Within hours of the PORTOS’ call to police, DET. NAGLE arrived

at the Inn and spoke with the PORTOS. 

39. The PORTOS informed DET. NAGLE that PLAINTIFF had started 

the fire in the bathroom. 

40. After speaking with the PORTOS, DET. NAGLE requested the 

assistance of the Carmel Fire Department and Putnam County Bureau of 

Emergency Services. 

41. Among those who responded pursuant to DET. NAGLE’s request 

were CHIEF JOHNSON, INSP. GEOGHEGAN, ROBERT EFFEREN, PO 

FISCHER, CASEY, and DOES 1-5, each of whom knew the PORTOS and their 

family, and were aware of the status they held in the community. 

42. At the time the above individuals responded, New York law placed 

on CHIEF JOHNSON the legal responsibility for determining whether the fire 

was an arson and/or incendiary.  

43. Specifically, New York General Municipal Law § 204-d, entitled

“Duties of the Fire Chief,” explicitly provided that “[t]he fire chief of any fire 

department or company shall, in addition to any other duties assigned to him 
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by law or contract, to the extent reasonably possible determine or cause to be 

determined the cause of each fire … which the fire department or company has 

been called to suppress” and to “contact[] the appropriate investigatory authority if 

he has reason to believe the fire … is of incendiary or suspicious origin.”  

44. CHIEF JOHNSON’s responsibility for being the ultimate decision

maker with respect to the nature of the cause of the fire was also recognized by the 

Putnam County Bureau of Emergency Services.    

45. Specifically, Robert McMahon, the Commissioner of the Putnam

County Bureau of Emergency Services at all times relevant to this complaint, 

acknowledged that the Putnam County Bureau of Emergency Services “simply 

assists[s] the fire chief in his determination as whether the fire, in his opinion, was 

suspicious, incendiary, or accidental.”   Letter of Robert McMahon to William 

Haughey, March 12, 2009 (Exhibit A).  

46. McMahon further acknowledged that the Putnam County Bureau of

Emergency Services “Fire Investigators are a tool for the Fire Chief.  It is the Fire 

Chief who is responsible for determining the cause and origin of a fire.  The 

Investigators simply help the Chief make that determination,” and that the Putnam 

County Bureau of Emergency Services “really do[es] not have a say or an 

obligation to find out how the fire started.”  Letter of Robert McMahon to William 

Haughey, March 29, 2011 (Exhibit B).  
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47. At the scene, DET. NAGLE immediately colored the fire investigation 

by informing the responding officials that, in accordance with the PORTOS’s 

narrative, PLAINTIFF had set the fire in the bathroom. 

48. Moreover, DET. NAGLE informed the responding officials that 

witnesses had informed him that PLAINTIFF had placed paper towels between the 

drop ceiling and the ceiling and lit the paper on fire. 

49. DET. NAGLE’s representation in this regard was false. As previously 

stated, there were no eyewitnesses to how the fire began and no one gave DET. 

NAGLE any such statement. 

50. Taking the cue from the PORTOS and DET. NAGLE, CHIEF 

JOHNSON, INSP. GEOGHEGAN (a former police officer), INSP. EFFEREN, and 

DOES 1-5, then conducted an invalid, incomplete, reckless, grossly negligent, and 

intentionally misleading fire investigation and falsely took the position that the fire 

did not have an electrical or accidental cause, and thus an arson had occurred. 

51. Defendants’ conduct violated the most basic principles of fire 

investigation, egregiously deviating from accepted fire investigation protocols and 

demonstrating an intentional or reckless disregard for proper procedures. 

Defendants’ “investigation,” by its very nature, made it impossible to determine 

whether an arson had occurred as opposed to whether the fire had an electrical or 

accidental origin, as: 
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(a) The fire investigation did not include an examination of a
smoke eater that was in the bathroom ceiling. The smoke eater
is an electrical device that was supposed to prevent cigarette
smoke from tripping the fire alarm, and as an electrical device,
it could have been the source of the fire, and THE PORTOS
disposed of the smoke eater before police could examine it.
This made it impossible to exclude an electrical source from
being the cause of the fire;

(b) The investigation did not include an examination of the entire
area above the ceiling of the bathroom where witnesses saw
the fire, to determine if there was any connection between the
smoke eater that was in that area and the fire;

(c) Despite two witnesses informing the police that they saw
flames emanating from the vent above the bathroom door,
which provided the exhaust for the smoke eater, the vent was
not inspected;

(d) The electrical system in the Inn was not examined despite the
fact that just a few months before the fire in this case, faulty
electrical wiring in the Inn had caused another fire there;

(e) The investigation did not account for the charred wood noted
by witnesses, charring that could not have occurred in the short
period between PLAINTIFF entering the bathroom
and a customer smelling smoke; the charring suggested that the
fire was burning before PLAINTIFF had even entered the
bathroom, and thus he was not the cause of it;

(f) The investigation did not examine the floor above the fire,
which sustained the bulk of the damage, and which was
consistent with the smoke eater causing the fire; and

(g) The fact that papers were removed from the ceiling when the
fire was extinguished indicated that the fire had ignited the
paper rather the paper igniting the fire. That paper is much
easier to burn and would have been consumed in its entirety,
like starting a fire in a fireplace with newspaper, had it been
the originating point of the fire.
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52. Based on the above, it was impossible for defendants to legitimately 

conclude an arson had occurred. 

53. Moreover, each defendant participating in the fire investigation and 

those on the scene were aware of the above. 

D. Defendants Falsely Arrest Plaintiff And Create Several False Reports 
Representing The Fire Was An Arson And All Electrical And 
Accidental Causes For It Had Been Eliminated  

54. Despite the total lack of evidence to conclude an arson occurred, on 

March 10, 2007, SGT. DEARMAN, PO FISHER, and DET. NAGLE, with the 

consent, aid, and under instructions from all other individual defendants, placed 

PLAINTIFF under arrest for arson. 

55. Additionally, the individual defendants, collectively, acting in 

concert, aiding and abetting each other, and conspiring with each other, prepared 

a series of false reports memorializing the knowingly false claim that all 

accidental causes for the fire had been eliminated and the fire was an arson. 

56. PUTNAM Fire Investigation Team Incident Field Notes (attached 

as Exhibit C), for example, falsely represented that all electrical systems, 

appliances, and accidental causes for the fire had been eliminated.  Id. p. 3. 

57. INSP. GEOGHEGAN prepared an Incident Summary Report 

(attached as Exhibit D), repeating that false claim: 

“After thoroughly examining the physical evidence 
present … and ruling out all possible accidental and 

�12

Case 7:18-cv-02861-KMK   Document 56   Filed 12/10/18   Page 12 of 89



natural causes, the Fire Investigation Team determined the 
fire to be incendiary in nature.” 

58. Likewise, CHIEF JOHNSON prepared a Carmel Fire Department

report (attached as Exhibit E) indicating the PUTNAM Fire Investigation Team, 

which were one of his tools and which reported to him, “determined that the 

fire was incendiary in nature.” 

59. Each of the above representations and reports were negligently,

recklessly, intentionally, and/or with deliberate indifference, made, and omitted  all 

of the exculpatory and/or impeaching information detailed in ¶¶ 47-53, 55-58, 

above, 60, 78 and 83, below. 

E. Defendants Provide Their False Reports To The Putnam County
District Attorney’s Office, And Affirmatively Mislead That Office
Into Commencing Formal Criminal Proceedings Against Plaintiff

60. The individual defendants, after preparing their false reports, then

forwarded those reports, along with the PORTOS’ complaint, to the Putnam 

County District Attorney’s Office to convince that Office to commence formal 

criminal proceedings against PLAINTIFF. 

61. At the time, defendants, upon information and belief, did not inform

the DA’s Office: 

(a) that it was impossible to eliminate an electrical or accidental
cause of the fire and thus impossible to establish that a crime
had even occurred,
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(b) that their reports and various representations that the fire was 
incendiary were false, and 

(c) of the exculpatory and/or impeaching information detailed in 
¶¶ 47-53, 55-58, and 60 above, and 78 and 83, below. 

62. Moreover, defendants did not provide the DA’s Office with various 

photographs taken at the crime scene, or inform the DA’s Office that those 

photographs contained highly exculpatory evidence strongly suggesting the fire 

was an electrical one (¶ 83, below). 

63. Nor did defendants inform the DA’s Office of their close 

relationships to the PORTOS’ family, or the incentive the PORTOS had to have 

the fire classified an arson. 

64. The DA’s Office, deceived by defendants, then presented arson 

charges to a grand jury to have PLAINTIFF indicted. 

65. Unbeknownst to the DA’s Office, however, the grand jury 

presentation was false and misleading, as the grand jury 

(a) was never informed that it was impossible to establish that an 
arson had occurred, 

(b) was not presented with the exculpatory and/or impeaching  
information detailed in ¶¶ 47-53, 55-58, above, and 70, 78 
and 83 below,  

(c) was never provided with the exculpatory crime scene 
photographs, ¶ 83, below, 

(d) was never informed of defendants’ false representations and 
reports claiming the fire was an arson, and 
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(e) was affirmatively lied to by DET. NAGLE, who testified 
falsely that “there would be no other reason that a fire would 
start [in the ceiling] other than someone starting it.” 

66. The grand jury indicted PLAINTIFF for arson in the second degree 

and criminal mischief, and he was then held over for trial. 

67. Following PLAINTIFF’s indictment, the individual defendants 

continued to mislead the DA’s Office, through affirmative representations, acts 

and omissions, and assure that Office that the fire was incendiary in nature, and all 

electrical and accidental causes for the fire had been eliminated. 

68. The DA’s Office, accepting defendants’ representations, called INSP. 

GEOGHEGAN as a witness at PLAINTIFF’s criminal trial. There, INSP. 

GEOGHEGAN falsely testified that the fire was not “electrically,” “accidentally,” 

“mechanically,” or “naturally caused,” but rather was incendiary in nature. 

69. Based on defendants’ deception, on April 16, 2008, PLAINTIFF was 

convicted and sentenced to 10 years in prison. Upon information and belief, after 

PLAINTIFF’s arrest and/or conviction, the PORTOS and CORPORATE 

DEFENDANTS filed several knowingly false, inflated, insurance claims alleging 

PLAINTIFF had started the fire in Smalley’s. Based on those lies, the PORTOS 

and CORPORATE DEFENDANTS unjustly recovered substantial sums through 

those false claims, claims which would have otherwise been denied had the 
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PORTOS and CORPORATE DEFENDANTS reported the true electrical nature of 

the fire. 

F. Defendant Charbonneau Covers-Up Defendants’ Misconduct 

70. Following PLAINTIFF’s conviction, he filed a series of FOIL 

requests seeking access to all exculpatory and/or impeaching evidence in 

his case. 

71. Nevertheless, CHARBONNEAU, acting in a purely administrative 

capacity as Town Attorney, conspired, and aided and abetted the other defendants 

in hiding the exculpatory and/or impeaching evidence (¶¶ 47-53, 55-58, 60, 68, 

supra, 78 and 83 below) from PLAINTIFF. 

72. CHARBONNEAU hid the requested evidence and persuaded a court 

to deny PLAINTIFF’s access to that evidence, thereby delaying PLAINTIFF’s 

exoneration, and prolonging his incarceration, for several additional years. 

G. Nearly Nine Years After Plaintiff Is Convicted, The District Attorney 
Discovers Defendants’ Deception And Moves To Overturn Plaintiff’s 
Conviction And Release Him From Prison  

73. In 2013, after PLAINTIFF lost all of his state court appeals, he 

commenced a federal habeas corpus proceeding challenging his wrongful 

conviction. The case was assigned to the Honorable Vincent I. Briccetti, a Judge 

in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. 

74. PLAINTIFF, acting on his own behalf without an attorney, swore that 

he was innocent and had been wrongfully convicted. 
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75. Included in PLAINTIFF’s submissions were reports from two fire

experts who had examined the evidence in PLAINTIFF’s case and concluded it 

was impossible to conclude that an arson had occurred or to rule out an electrical 

cause of the fire. (A copy of the experts’ joint report is attached as Exhibit F). 

76. On May 5, 2016, Putnam County District Attorney Robert Tendy,

after conducting an independent investigation, filed a memorandum of law 

(attached as Exhibit G) in federal court declaring PLAINTIFF was innocent, 

had been wrongfully convicted, and should be released from prison immediately. 

77. The DA informed the federal court that his Office had reached this

conclusion after thoroughly reviewing, among other things, the case file, reports 

from PLAINTIFF’s fire experts, and a report of a third fire expert that the New 

York Attorney General’s Office had retained in connection with PLAINTIFF’s 

habeas corpus proceeding. Id. ¶ 3. 

78. The DA explained to Judge Briccetti that Smalley’s Inn had been the

subject of “numerous electrical code violations and another electrical fire” shortly 

before the one in PLAINTIFF’s case, and that “[s]adly,” it appears PLAINTIFF 

spent many years in prison “for helping to put out a fire - not start one.” Id. ¶¶ 25- 

26. 

79. The DA explained that every fire expert consulted after trial —

two hired on PLAINTIFF’s behalf and one hired by the Attorney General’s 

�17

Case 7:18-cv-02861-KMK   Document 56   Filed 12/10/18   Page 17 of 89



Office— “concluded that the origin of the fire could not be determined” and 

thus “there could not be an arson conviction.”  Id. ¶ 14.  

80. The DA further informed Judge Briccetti that “there was ample

evidence” the fire may have been electrical. Id. 

81. The DA concluded that an examination of a video from the night of

the fire “clearly belie[d]” many of the assertions made by the prosecution 

witnesses, including the PORTOS, at trial. Id. ¶ 18. 

82. The DA found that there was nothing suspicious about PLAINTIFF

helping to extinguish the fire that night. Id. ¶ 22. 

83. The DA explicitly conceded that the crime scene photographs

PLAINTIFF alleged had been suppressed from his defense attorney were 

exculpatory. The photographs, the DA said, 

were certainly exculpatory[.] These photographs include 
one … that demonstrates that the space immediately 
above the dropped ceiling of the Smalley' s Inn bathroom 
was not connected to the wall vent from which witnesses 
observed smoke and flames, and that the smoke-eater 
device about which the owner, [Anthony M. Porto], 
testified, was not in the space immediately above the 
bathroom's dropped ceiling, but in a separate confined 
space above, and which serviced the vent. This was 
material that would have been important in 
demonstrating to the jury that testimony from prosecution 
witness [INSP. GEOGHEGAN] that the fire was 
incendiary and that there could have been no electrical 
cause of the fire, was invalid. The photograph also would 
have been material in showing the significance of [INSP. 
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GEOGHEGAN’s] failure to inspect this separate space 
that serviced the vent and housed the smoke-eater. 

Id. ¶ 29. 

84.  Based on the above, the DA consented to all relief PLAINTIFF 

sought in his habeas corpus proceeding, and to his immediate release from prison. 

Id. ¶ 34. 

85. On May 9, 2016, Judge Briccetti ordered that PLAINTIFF be 

released from prison. By then, PLAINTIFF had served nearly nine years of his 

10-year sentence. 

86. On May 23, 2016, the DA’s Office formally agreed on the record that 

PLAINTIFF was “actually innocent of the offenses of which he was convicted,” 

that INSP. GEOGHEGAN’s conclusion that the fire was incendiary/an arson was 

“fundamentally flawed,” and no witness observed PLAINTIFF put anything into 

the space above the bathroom ceiling tiles. Stipulation of Settlement, attached as 

Exhibit F, at ¶ 8. 

87. The DA conceded that there “was no physical evidence of any paper 

towels having been the cause of the fire.” Id. ¶ 11. 

88. On May 23, 2016, Judge Briccetti granted PLAINTIFF’s habeas 

corpus petition, vacated his conviction, dismissed his indictment with prejudice, 

and barred the prosecution from ever retrying PLAINTIFF. Exhibit H (Final 

Judgment Order). 
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PLAINTIFF’S DAMAGES 

89. PLAINTIFF’s injuries and damages, all of which were foreseeable 

and proximately brought about by defendants’ acts and omissions, include, but are 

not limited to: 

(a) His false arrest and malicious prosecution; 

(b) Nearly nine years of unjust incarceration; 

(c) Mental and emotional damages from being falsely arrested, 
incarcerated, and required to defend against false charges; 

(d) Shame and humiliation; 

(e) Legal fees and expenses for which he is responsible exceeding 

(f) The loss of employment income, and diminution of future 
earning ability; and 

(g) Substantial pain and suffering. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Evidence Manufacturing; Denial of A Fair Trial Under The Fifth, Sixth, 
and Fourteenth Amendments; 42 U.S. C. § 1983; All Individual and 
Corporate Defendants) 

90. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 89 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

91. Defendants, individually and acting in concert and aiding and 

abetting the other, intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to 

PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights, created numerous false reports omitting the 
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exculpatory and/or impeaching information detailed in ¶¶ 47-53, 55-58, above, 60, 

78 and 83, and alleging PLAINTIFF intentionally set the fire in Smalley’s Inn. 

92. The misleading information contained in those reports, and the

information omitted from them, was likely to, and did, influence the jury's 

decision. 

93. Those defendants then forwarded those reports to prosecutors, and

made verbal representations to those prosecutors affirming the content of those 

reports. The prosecutors in turn relied on them to commence formal criminal 

proceedings against PLAINTIFF. 

94. Defendants’ actions deprived PLAINTIFF of his right to not be

prosecuted on fabricated evidence, and to a fair trial under the Fifth, Sixth, and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, and were the proximate cause of 

PLAINTIFF’s injuries (¶ 89, supra). 

95. PUTNAM and CARMEL are liable for these wrongs by virtue of

their policymakers’ direct participation, ¶¶ 127-162, in the wrongs and civil 

conspiracy set forth herein. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Wrongful Arrest And Detention Under The Fourth 
Amendment and Manuel v. City of Joliet, 137 S.Ct. 911 
(2017); 42 U.S. C. § 1983; All Individual and Corporate Defendants) 

96. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 95 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 
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97. Defendants, individually and acting in concert and aiding and

abetting the other, intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to 

PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights, without probable cause, and in disregard of 

overwhelming evidence of PLAINTIFF’s innocence, wrongfully arrested and 

detained him at the scene and thereafter for intentionally setting the fire at 

Smalley’s Inn. 

98. Moreover, defendants, in absence of probable cause for

PLAINTIFF’s continued seizure, continued the seizure by making false 

representations and submitting false reports to prosecutors who continued the 

charges against PLAINTIFF and his detention and/or seizure. 

99. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants are liable for PLAINTIFF’s

wrongful arrest and detention, and the damages set forth in ¶ 89, above. 

100. PUTNAM and CARMEL are liable for these wrongs by virtue of

their policymakers’ direct participation, ¶¶ 127-162, in the wrongs and civil 

conspiracy set forth herein. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Malicious Prosecution and Deprivation of Liberty 
Under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments; 

42 U.S. C. § 1983; All Individual and Corporate Defendants) 

101. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 100 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 
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102. Defendants, individually and acting in concert and aiding and

abetting the other, intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to 

PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights, by virtue of the foregoing, acting in concert 

with additional persons for whose acts they are liable, initiated, continued, and/or 

caused the initiation or continuation of, criminal proceedings against PLAINTIFF. 

103. The criminal proceedings terminated in PLAINTIFF’s favor.

104. There was no probable cause for the commencement or the

continuation of the criminal proceedings. 

105. The Defendants acted with actual malice.

106. The aforesaid conduct operated to deprive PLAINTIFF of his rights

under the Constitution and the Laws of the United States: 

(a) Not to be arrested, prosecuted, detained, denied bail, or
imprisoned based upon false, fabricated, manufactured,
misleading, or inherently unreliable “evidence,” including
false allegations in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments, and the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses of
the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, to the U.S.
Constitution; and

(b) Not to be deprived of his liberty absent probable cause to
believe he has committed a crime, in violation of his rights
under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S.
Constitution.

107. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s federal constitutional

rights by the defendants, together with their co-conspirators and accomplices, 

known and unknown, directly, substantially, proximately, and foreseeably caused 
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the continuation of Plaintiff's malicious prosecution without probable cause, and 

his other injuries and damages. 

108. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF's rights amounted to

Constitutional torts and were affected by actions taken under color of State law, 

and within the scope of the Defendants’ employment and authority. 

109. Defendants committed the foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s

rights knowingly, intentionally, willfully, recklessly, negligently, and/or with 

deliberate indifference to PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights. 

110. By reason of the foregoing, the defendants are liable for the damages

set forth in ¶ 89, above. 

111. PUTNAM and CARMEL are liable for these wrongs by virtue of

their policymakers’ direct participation, ¶¶ 127-162, in the wrongs and civil 

conspiracy set forth herein. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Failure To Intervene; 42 U.S.C. § 1983; Fourth, Fifth and 
Fourteenth Amendments; Sgt. Behan, Sgt. Dearman, Chief Johnson, 
and Does 1-5) 

112. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 111 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

113. Defendants, who were present at the scene and had direct knowledge

of the violation of PLAINTIFF’s Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights 

through his wrongful arrest and detention, and malicious prosecution, based on a 
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non-existent arson, individually and acting in concert and aiding and abetting the 

other, intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to PLAINTIFF’s 

constitutional rights exhibited deliberate indifference and/or gross negligence 

toward PLAINTIFF’s rights by failing to intervene to prevent the violation of 

those rights by their peers and subordinates, even though they had legal and 

constitutional obligations to do so. 

114. Rather than intervene, defendants directly participated in, ratified,

and aided and abetted, the violation of PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights as set 

forth above. 

115. Each of the defendants had a realistic opportunity to intervene and

prevent the harm PLAINTIFF suffered, a reasonable person in defendants’ 

positions would know that PLAINTIFF’s rights were being violated, yet none of 

the defendants took reasonable steps to intervene. 

116. The defendants, by virtue of the foregoing, are liable for the damages

set forth in ¶ 89, above. 

117. PUTNAM and CARMEL are liable for these wrongs by virtue of

their policymakers’ direct participation, ¶¶ 127-162, in the wrongs and civil 

conspiracy set forth herein. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Denial of A Fair Trial Under The Fifth, Sixth, Fourteenth Amendments, 
and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); All Individual and Corporate 
Defendants) 

118. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 117 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

119. Defendants, individually and acting in concert and aiding and 

abetting the other, intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to 

PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights, suppressed from the DA’s Office and 

PLAINTIFF (a) the exculpatory and impeaching information detailed in  ¶¶ 47-53, 

55-58, 60, 78 and 83, above, (b) the fact that other defendants had created false 

reports, (c) that defendants made false representations to the DA’s Office that the 

fire was an arson, and (d) that defendants made false representations to the DA’s 

Office that the possibility that the fire was accidental and electrical had been 

eliminated. 

120. The suppressed evidence was material, likely to influence a jury's 

decision, and there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been disclosed 

to the defense, the result of PLAINTIFF’s trial would have been different. 

121. Defendants’ actions deprived PLAINTIFF of his right 

(a) Not to be arrested, indicted, prosecuted, detained, 
convicted, or imprisoned based upon false, fabricated, 
manufactured, misleading, or inherently unreliable 
“evidence,” including the statements and testimony of 
witnesses who have been improperly influenced, coerced, 
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or manipulated to provide such statements and testimony, 
in violation of the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses of 
the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution; 

(b) Not to be deprived of his liberty absent probable cause to 
believe he has committed a crime, in violation of his 
rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the United States Constitution; and 

(c) To timely disclosure of all material evidence favorable to 
the defense pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 
(1963), Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and 
their progeny, and the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses 
of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution. 

122. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s federal constitutional 

rights by defendants and their co-conspirators and accomplices, known and 

unknown, directly, substantially, proximately, and foreseeably caused the 

initiation and continuation of Plaintiff's criminal prosecution, his loss of liberty 

and detention without bail, his wrongful conviction, his subsequent imprisonment, 

and his other injuries and damages. 

123. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF's rights amounted to 

Constitutional torts and were affected by actions taken under color of State law, 

and within the scope of the defendants’ employment and authority. 

123. Defendants committed the foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s 

rights knowingly, intentionally, willfully, recklessly, and/or with deliberate 
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indifference to Plaintiff’s constitutional rights or to the effect of such misconduct 

upon PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights. 

125. By reason of the foregoing, the defendants are liable to PLAINTIFF 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, for compensatory and for punitive damages detailed 

in ¶ 89, above. 

126. PUTNAM and CARMEL are liable for these wrongs by virtue of 

their policymakers’ direct participation, ¶¶ 127-162, in the wrongs and civil 

conspiracy set forth herein. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Monell/42 U.S.C. § 1983: Claim Against Carmel For The 
Actions Of Chief Johnson) 

127. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 126 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

128. At the time of PLAINTIFF’s prosecution, CARMEL, pursuant to 

statute, practice, custom, and affirmative ordinances or memorandums, delegated 

to CHIEF JOHNSON, Chief of the Carmel Fire Department, all final policymaking 

authority  with respect to (a) the determination of the causes of fires, including 1

whether a fire was an arson, (b) reporting arsons to the DA’s Office, (c) disclosing 

all relevant facts regarding the cause of the purported arson, (d) cooperating with, 

[T]here will be cases in which policymaking responsibility is shared among more than 1

one official[.]” City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik, 485 U.S. 112, 126 (1988).
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reporting for, and furthering, any criminal prosecution based on CHIEF 

JOHNSON’s conclusion that a fire was an arson and/or incendiary. 

129. At all times relevant to this complaint, New York General Municipal

Law § 204-d, “Duties of the Fire Chief,” explicitly provided that “[t]he fire chief of 

any fire department or company shall, in addition to any other duties assigned to 

him by law or contract, to the extent reasonably possible determine or cause to be 

determined the cause of each fire … which the fire department or company has 

been called to suppress” and to “contact[] the appropriate investigatory authority if 

he has reason to believe the fire … is of incendiary or suspicious origin.”  That 

statute also required CHIEF JOHNSON to “file with the office of fire prevention 

and control a report containing such determination and any additional information 

required by such office regarding the fire or explosion.” Id.   McMillian v. Monroe 

County, 520 U.S. 781, 786, 789, 795 (1997) (for Monell purposes, and consistent 

with federalist principles, a state’s own classification of a policymaker’s specific 

function ordinarily will determine whether § 1983 liability may attach). 

130. CHIEF JOHNSON’s responsibility for being the ultimate policymaker

is also established by admissions made by the Commissioner of Putnam County 

Bureau of Emergency Services.   

131. Specifically, Robert McMahon, the Commissioner of the Putnam

County Bureau of Emergency Services acknowledged that the Putnam County 

Bureau of Emergency Services “simply assists[s]” CHIEF JOHNSON in his 
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determination as whether the fire, in CHIEF JOHNSON’s opinion, was suspicious, 

incendiary, or accidental, that Putnam County Bureau of Emergency Services Fire 

Investigators are “tool[s] for the Fire Chief,”  and that the ultimate determination 

falls to CHIEF JOHNSON.  

132. Additionally, CARMEL officially vested CHIEF JOHNSON with the

authority to carry out the actions causing PLAINTIFF’s civil rights violations.

133. The Carmel Town Board is the legislative, appropriating, governing

and policy determining body of the Town and consists of four elected board 

members plus the Town Supervisor. It is the responsibility of the Town Board to 

enact, by resolution, all legislation including ordinances and local laws.” Town of 

Carmel Website, Town Board ( http://www.ci.carmel.ny.us/town-board) 

134. In 2007, the false designation of an arson occurred in PLAINTIFF’s

case, the four-member Town Board consisted of Carmine DiBattista, Anthony 

DiCarlo, Robert J. Ravallo, and Richard O’Keefe. 
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135. This board was the final policymaking authority for Carmel at the 

time, and they formally and by custom delegated their policymaking authority  2

for determining whether a fire was an arson to the Fire Chief, CHIEF JOHNSON, 

by, among other things: 

a. Promulgating a Town Code that, at all times relevant to this 
complaint, provided that the Fire Chief is “responsible for all 
operations of the department.” His “duties include fire ground 
operations” and “fire reporting,” necessarily encompassing the 
designation of fires as accidental or arson; 

b. Failing to provide any provision or mechanism whereby the Fire 
Chief’s decision could be reviewed or subject to oversight by the 
board members, as no provision of the Town Code or any other law 
provided for review of the Fire Chief’s designation of a fire as 
being an arson; 

c. Customarily and by practice leaving the determination of whether a 
fire was an arson to the fire chief and making his decision the de 
facto last word on the issue. 

See e.g. Lathrop v. Onondaga County, 220 F.Supp.2d 129, 138 (N.D.N.Y 2002) (holding 2

Commissioner of DCJS delegated to a Deputy final policymaking authority with respect 
to employment decisions, as the Commissioner left such decisions to the Deputy, spent 
little time reviewing on such matters, and the Deputy understood his autonomy); Mandel 
v. Doe, 888 F.2d 783 (11th Cir. 1989) (municipality delegated to a prison physician’s 
assistant final policymaking with regard to the provision of medical care at a prison: 
“[a]lthough it was initially contemplated that the physician's assistant would be 
supervised by a medical doctor, the evidence revealed that a custom and practice 
developed so that the policy was that [the physician's assistant] was authorized to 
function without any supervision or review at all …. [As such the physician assistant 
was] “the sole and final policymaker with respect to medical affairs at the road prison.”) 
Id. at 794.
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136. Moreover, the specialized knowledge required to determine the

cause of a fire necessarily required the Fire Chief to be the final policymaker for 

the Town in this area, as: 

a. None of the four Town Board members had any
training, qualifications, or expertise in fire investigations,
much less determining whether a fire was an arson

b. None of those board members participated in the
investigation, examined the evidence in PLAINTIFF’s case,
and there was no mechanism in place, for them to review,
much less overrule, the Fire Chief’s determination;

c. Those board members never reviewed the Fire Chief’s designation
in PLAINTIFF’s case; and

d. There is not a single recorded case where those board members
reviewed or overruled the Fire Chief’s designation that a fire was
an arson.

137. CHIEF JOHNSON was thus the formal and/or de facto

policymaking official for the Town with respect to determining whether a fire was 

an arson. 

138. Since CHIEF JOHNSON was the relevant policymaker in this

regard, his participation in the conspiracy to frame PLAINTIFF renders the Town 

liable under Monell. See e.g. Whisenant v. City of Haltom City, 106 Fed. Appx 

915, 917 (5th Cir. 2004) (“City can be held liable for the city council's part in the 

conspiracy, because the city council is the City’s policymaking body and, 

consequently, its decisions constitute City policy”); cf. Sforza v City of New York, 
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2009 WL 857496  (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2009) (“A municipality may be held liable 

under § 1985 if it is involved in the conspiracy.”) 

139. CHIEF JOHNSON’s decisions as set forth above, at the time they

were made, for practical or legal reasons constitute CARMEL’s final decisions, 

and were the moving force behind PLAINTIFF’s injuries. 

140. In that regard, CHIEF JOHNSON, in his role as final policymaker for

CARMEL in the aforementioned areas, fully aware that his reports and findings 

would be forwarded to and relied upon by the Putnam District Attorney’s Office to 

decide whether criminal charges were warranted against PLAINTIFF, directly 

participated in, aided and abetted, and conspired with other defendants and 

unnamed individuals, to falsely designate the fire an arson and to have 

PLAINTIFF falsely arrested, prosecuted, and convicted for a non-existent crime 

by, among other things, misleading the DA’s Office as to the nature of the fire. 

Moreover, CHIEF JOHNSON’s failure to supervise his subordinates and other 

members of the Fire Investigation team so as to prevent them from committing the 

acts and omissions detailed in ¶¶ 38-126, above, renders CARMEL liable for that 

conduct.  See Amnesty Am. v. Town of W. Hartford, 361 F.3d 113, 127 (2d Cir. 

2004) (holding that “even a single action by a decision maker who possesses final 

authority to establish municipal policy with respect to the action ordered is 

sufficient to implicate the municipality” and that Town could be held liable for 
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actions of Police Chief who personally witnessed police brutality but failed to 

intervene) (quotes and citations omitted).

141. CHIEF JOHNSON’s actions deprived PLAINTIFF of his right

(a) Not to be arrested, indicted, prosecuted, detained,
convicted, or imprisoned based upon false, fabricated,
manufactured, misleading, or inherently unreliable
“evidence,” including the statements and testimony of
witnesses who have been improperly influenced, coerced,
or manipulated to provide such statements and testimony,
in violation of the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses of
the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution, Zahrey v. Coffey, 221 F.3d
342, 349 (2d Cir. 2000) (recognizing “right not to be
deprived of liberty as a result of the fabrication of
evidence by a government officer acting in an
investigating capacity”);

(b) Not to be deprived of his liberty absent probable cause to
believe he has committed a crime, in violation of his
rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to
the United States Constitution; and

(c) To timely disclosure of all material evidence favorable to
the defense pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83
(1963), Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and
their progeny, and the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses
of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution.

142. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s federal constitutional

rights and resultant injuries were directly, foreseeably, proximately, and 

substantially caused by conduct, chargeable to CARMEL, amounting to deliberate 

indifference to PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights. Moreover, at all relevant times, 
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CHIEF JOHNSON, individually and acting in concert and aiding and abetting 

others who wronged PLAINTIFF in this case, acted intentionally, recklessly, and 

with deliberate indifference to PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights.

143. CHIEF JOHNSON, personally and/or through his authorized

delegates, at all relevant times had final authority for designating whether a fire 

was electrical, accidental, or an arson, and conveying that information to the 

District Attorney’s Office in connection with their decisions as to whether a 

criminal prosecution was warranted. 

144. CHIEF JOHNSON, personally and/or through his authorized

delegates, at all relevant times had final authority, and constituted the CARMEL 

policymaker with respect to the above-mentioned areas. 

145. During all times material to this Complaint, CARMEL, through its

policymakers, owed a duty to the public at large and to PLAINTIFF, which such 

policymakers knowingly and intentionally breached, or to which they were 

deliberately indifferent, as detailed above. 

146. By virtue of the foregoing, CARMEL is liable for having

substantially caused the foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights 

and his resultant injuries. 
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Monell/42 U.S.C. § 1983: Claim Against Putnam For The 
Actions Of Insp. Geoghegan and Insp. Efferen) 

147. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 146 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

148. At the time of PLAINTIFF’s prosecution, PUTNAM, by practice,

custom, and affirmative ordinances or memorandums, delegated  to the PUTNAM 

County Bureau of Emergency Services, which in turn delegated that authority to 

on the scene Fire Investigators, including INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. 

EFFEREN all final policymaking authority with respect to (a) assisting the 

Carmel Fire Department and its Fire Chief with the determination of the causes of 

fires, including whether a fire was an arson, (b) advising the Fire Chief on 

whether the fire should be reported to the DA’s Office, and (c) cooperating with, 

reporting for, and furthering, any criminal prosecution based on their investigation 

or opinion that a fire was an arson and/or incendiary. 

149. PUTNAM officially vested the Commissioner with the authority to

carry out the actions causing PLAINTIFF’s civil rights violations. 

150. The Putnam County Legislature is the elected body that is responsible

for setting County policies, reviewing the administration of government, 

appropriating funding, levying taxes, reviewing and adopting the annual budget, 

and enacting resolutions and local laws. The Legislature is composed of nine 

elected members. 
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151. In 2007, when the false designation of an arson occurred in 

PLAINTIFF’s case, the Putnam County Code § 52-1, and other enactments and 

resolutions issued by the PUTNAM legislature, provided that the Commissioner 

of the PUTNAM Bureau of Emergency Services (“the Commissioner”) had the 

sole responsibility to (a) administer and update a County Mutual Aid Plan for Fire 

Responses; (b) Insure proper emergency response to all natural and man-made 

emergencies, including fires and (c) Act as a liaison between the County 

Legislature, the Fire Advisory Board, various fire and EMS agencies, the County 

Executive and other County officials. 

152. The Commissioner was the final policymaking authority for

PUTNAM at the time with respect to assisting the Carmel Fire Chief with the 

determination of the causes of fires, including whether a fire was an arson, 

whether the fire should be reported to the DA’s Office, and cooperating and 

furthering a subsequent prosecution based on that finding, and the Commissioner 

formally and by custom delegated to INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN 

that policymaking authority (n. 2, supra) by, among other things: 

a. Customarily relying on and totally deferring to those inspectors’
designations regarding whether a fire was an arson;

b. Failing to provide any provision or mechanism whereby their
decisions could be reviewed or subject to oversight;
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c. Moreover, neither the Commissioner or any other superior
participated in the investigation, examined the evidence in
PLAINTIFF’s case, there was no mechanism in place, for them to
review, much less overrule, the investigators’ designation;

d. The Commissioner never reviewed the investigators’ designation
in PLAINTIFF’s case; and

e. There does not appear to be a single recorded case where the
Commissioner reviewed or overruled his investigators’ designation
that a fire was an arson.

153. Additionally, the Commissioner’s delegation of his policymaking

authority is evidenced by the admission of Putnam County Bureau of 

Emergency Services Commissioner Robert McMahon, which acknowledged that 

INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN were essentially given unfettered 

discretion in advising CHIEF JOHNSON on whether or not a fire was an arson 

(Exhibits A and B); see Lathrop v. Onondaga County, 220 F.Supp.2d 129, 138 

(N.D.N.Y 2002) (Commissioner of DCJS delegated to a Deputy final 

policymaking authority with respect to employment decisions, as the 

Commissioner left such decisions to the Deputy, spent little time reviewing on 

such matters, and the Deputy understood his autonomy). 

154. INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN, by virtue of that

delegation, were the formal and/or de facto policymaking officials for PUTNAM 

with concerning the aforementioned areas.  

155. Since they were the relevant policymakers in this regard, their

participation in the conspiracy to frame PLAINTIFF, their creation of false 
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reports, and the acts set forth in ¶¶ 38-127, above,  renders PUTNAM liable 

under Monell. 

156. INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN’s decisions as set forth 

above, at the time they were made, for practical or legal reasons constitute 

PUTNAM’s final decisions, and were the moving force behind PLAINTIFF’s 

injuries. 

157. In that regard, INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN, in their 

role as final policymakers for PUTNAM in the aforementioned areas, fully aware 

that their reports and findings would be forwarded to and relied upon by the 

Putnam District Attorney’s Office to decide whether criminal charges were 

warranted against PLAINTIFF, directly participated in, aided and abetted, and 

conspired with other defendants and unnamed individuals, to falsely designate the 

fire an arson and to have PLAINTIFF falsely arrested, prosecuted, and convicted 

for a non-existent crime by, among other things, misleading the DA’s Office as to 

the nature of the fire. 

158. INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN’s actions deprived 

PLAINTIFF of his right 

(a) Not to be arrested, indicted, prosecuted, detained, 
convicted, or imprisoned based upon false, fabricated, 
manufactured, misleading, or inherently unreliable 
“evidence,” including the statements and testimony of 
witnesses who have been improperly influenced, coerced, 
or manipulated to provide such statements and testimony, 
in violation of the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses of 
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the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution, Zahrey v. Coffey, 221 F.3d 
342, 349 (2d Cir. 2000) (recognizing “right not to be 
deprived of liberty as a result of the fabrication of 
evidence by a government officer acting in an 
investigating capacity”); 

(b) Not to be deprived of his liberty absent probable cause to 
believe he has committed a crime, in violation of his 
rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the United States Constitution; and 

(c) To timely disclosure of all material evidence favorable to 
the defense pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 
(1963), Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and 
their progeny, and the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses 
of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution. 

159. The foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s federal constitutional 

rights and resultant injuries were directly, foreseeably, proximately, and 

substantially caused by conduct, chargeable to PUTNAM, amounting to deliberate 

indifference to PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights. Moreover, at all relevant times, 

INSP. GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN, individually and acting in concert 

and aiding and abetting others who wronged PLAINTIFF in this case, acted 

intentionally, recklessly, and with deliberate indifference to PLAINTIFF’s 

constitutional rights. 

160. The Commissioner, through his authorized delegates, INSP. 

GEOGHEGAN and INSP. EFFEREN, at all relevant times had final authority in 

the aforementioned areas. 
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161. During all times material to this complaint, PUTNAM, through its 

policymakers, owed a duty to the public at large and to PLAINTIFF, which such 

policymakers knowingly and intentionally breached, or to which they were 

deliberately indifferent, as detailed above. 

162. By virtue of the foregoing, PUTNAM is liable for having 

substantially caused the foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights 

and his resultant injuries. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(42 U.S.C. §1983 Civil Conspiracy; All Defendants)  

163. PLAINTIFF repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained in ¶¶ 1 through 162 of this Complaint, and incorporates them here. 

164. Defendants all explicitly and/or implicitly agreed to commit with 

each other and/or other unnamed conspirators, the wrongs detailed above, and to 

ultimately have PLAINTIFF falsely arrested for arson. 

165. Each defendant then committed overt acts, as detailed above, to 

accomplish the goal of the conspiracy, including, but not limited to, violating  

the most basic principles of fire investigation, intentionally deviating from 

accepted fire investigation protocols to achieve a desired result, and rendering and 

falsely reporting to the DA and in reports that the fire was an arson when, in truth: 

(a) The fire investigation did not include an examination of a 
smoke eater that was in the bathroom ceiling. The smoke eater 
is an electrical device that was supposed to prevent cigarette 
smoke from tripping the fire alarm, and as an electrical device, 
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it could have been the source of the fire, and THE PORTOS 
disposed of the smoke eater before police could examine it. 
This made it impossible to exclude an electrical source from 
being the cause of the fire; 

(b) The investigation did not include an examination of the entire 
area above the ceiling of the bathroom where witnesses saw 
the fire, to determine if there was any connection between the 
smoke eater that was in that area and the fire; 

(c) Despite two witnesses informing the police that they saw 
flames emanating from the vent above the bathroom door, 
which provided the exhaust for the smoke eater, the vent was 
not inspected; 

(d) The electrical system in the Inn was not examined despite the 
fact that just a few months before the fire in this case, faulty 
electrical wiring in the Inn had caused another fire there; 

(e) The investigation did not account for the charred wood noted 
by witnesses, charring that could not have occurred in the short 
period between PLAINTIFF entering the bathroom 
and a customer smelling smoke; the charring suggested that the 
fire was burning before PLAINTIFF had even entered the 
bathroom, and thus he was not the cause of it; 

(f) The investigation did not examine the floor above the fire, 
which sustained the bulk of the damage, and which was 
consistent with the smoke eater causing the fire; and 

(g) The fact that papers were removed from the ceiling when the 
fire was extinguished indicated that the fire had ignited the 
paper rather the paper igniting the fire. That paper is much 
easier to burn and would have been consumed in its entirety, 
like starting a fire in a fireplace with newspaper, had it been 
the originating point of the fire. 
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166. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants are liable for conspiring to 

deprive PLAINTIFF of his right 

(a) Not to be arrested, indicted, prosecuted, detained, 
convicted, or imprisoned based upon false, fabricated, 
manufactured, misleading, or inherently unreliable 
“evidence,” including the statements and testimony of 
witnesses who have been improperly influenced, coerced, 
or manipulated to provide such statements and testimony, 
in violation of the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses of 
the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution, Zahrey v. Coffey, 221 F.3d 
342, 349 (2d Cir. 2000) (recognizing “right not to be 
deprived of liberty as a result of the fabrication of 
evidence by a government officer acting in an 
investigating capacity”); 

(b) Not to be deprived of his liberty absent probable cause to 
believe he has committed a crime, in violation of his 
rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the United States Constitution; and 

(c) To timely disclosure of all material evidence favorable to 
the defense pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 
(1963), Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and 
their progeny, and the Due Process and Fair Trial Clauses 
of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution. 

167. Defendants committed the foregoing violations of PLAINTIFF’s 

constitutional rights knowingly, intentionally, willfully, recklessly, and/or with 

deliberate indifference to them, or to the effect of such misconduct upon them.  
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168. By reason of the foregoing, the defendants are liable to PLAINTIFF

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, for compensatory and punitive damages detailed in 

¶ 89, above. 

DAMAGES DEMAND 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF demands judgment against defendants as 

follows: 

a. For compensatory damages of not less than $25,000,000;

b. For punitive damages against the individual defendants of

c. For reasonable attorneys' fees, together with costs and

d. For pre-judgment interest as allowed by law; and

e. For such other and further relief as this Court may deem just

DATED: Brooklyn, New York 
December 3, 2018 

           Rita Dave

___________________________________ 
RITA DAVE, ESQ. 
26 Court Street 
Suite 1212 
Brooklyn, New York 11242 
(516) 782-1614
Email: ritadaveesq@gmail.com

Attorney for Plaintiff William Haughey
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